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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

ZOETIS LLC, ZOETIS SERVICES LLC, 
and ZOETIS US LLC 

Civil Action No.: 

Plaintiffs, 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

- against -

ROADRUNNER PHARMACY, INC., 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs Zoetis LLC, Zoetis Services LLC, and Zoetis US LLC (collectively, "Zoetis" or 

"Plaintiffs"), by and through their attorneys, for their Complaint against Roadrunner Pharmacy 

("Roadrunner" or "Defendant"), hereby allege as follows: 

This is an action for trademark infringement and patent infringement arising out 

of Roadrunner's activities with respect to its oclacitinib free base product which it has been 

offering for sale, selling, and actively marketing to veterinarians, pet owners, and other 

consumers, through direct marketing and over the internet, and passing off as Zoetis' 

APOQUEL® (oclacitinib maleate) and/or as an APOQUEL®-equivalent. This is also an action 

for false advertising, false designation of origin, unfair competition, and other statutory claims, 
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as well as state law and common law claims, arising from Roadrunner's aforementioned 

activities, which are more fully described below. 

PARTIES 

Zoetis LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a place of business at 

100 Campus Drive, Florham Park, New Jersey, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zoetis Inc. 

Zoetis Services LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a place of 3. 

business at 100 Campus Drive, Florham Park, New Jersey, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Zoetis Inc. 

Zoetis US LLC is a Delaware limited liability company with a place of business at 4. 

100 Campus Drive, Florham Park, New Jersey, and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zoetis Inc. 

Upon information and belief, Defendant Roadrunner is an Arizona business 

operating from 711 E. Carefree Hwy Suite 140, Phoenix Arizona. 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

This is an action for trademark infringement arising out of Defendant's continued 6. 

willful infringement of Zoetis' well-known and federally registered APOQUEL® mark for its 

veterinary oclacitinib maleate therapeutic agent for the treatment of pruritus and allergic 

reactions in dogs. 

Zoetis has used its mark APOQUEL® since 2010 for its oclacitinib maleate 

product, believed to be the world's first medication for control of pruritus associated with 

allergic dermatitis and control of atopic dermatitis in dogs. 

8. Zoetis owns a federal trademark registration for APOQUEL®, Registration No. 

3861904, with a first use date of July 27, 2010 ("the '904 Trademark Registration"), a copy of 

which is attached here as Exhibit A. 
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This is also an action for patent infringement under the patent laws of the United 9. 

States, Title 35, United States Code, § 100 et seq., including 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 and 281, that 

arises out of Roadrunner's activities with respect to its oclacitinib free base product. 

10. Zoetis Services LLC is the sole owner by assignment of all rights in U.S. Patent 

No. 8,133,899 ("the '899 patent"). Zoetis LLC and Zoetis US LLC are exclusive licensees of the 

'899 patent for manufacture and commercialization respectively. 

11. Zoetis Services LLC is the sole owner by assignment of all rights in U.S. Patent 

No. 8,987,283 ("the '283 patent"). Zoetis LLC and Zoetis US LLC are exclusive licensees of the 

'283 patent for manufacture and commercialization respectively. 

12. Roadrunner's manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale, and/or importation of 

oclacitinib free base product constitutes direct and/or indirect infringement of the claims of the 

'899 patent and the '283 patent, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit B and Exhibit H, 

respectively. 

13. This is also an action for false advertising, unfair competition, false designation of 

origin, and state law and common law claims of unfair competition related to Roadrunner's 

marketing, offering for sale, and selling, its oclacitinib free base product. Roadrunner's activities 

are likely to cause consumer confusion, mistake and/or deceit as to the source, origin, or 

association of its products and services, as consumers are likely to mistakenly believe that 

Roadrunner's compounded oclacitinib free base is the same as, or an approved equivalent of 

APOQUEL®, which contains the maleate salt. 

14. For these reasons, and as explained further below, Zoetis seeks (1) permanent 

injunctive relief to stop Roadrunner's deceptive and infringing activity; and (2) monetary 
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damages to compensate Zoetis for the harm suffered as a result of Defendant's infringement of 

its well-known APOQUEL® mark and infringement of the '899 and '283 patents. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This is an action for declaratory relief, permanent injunctive relief, and for further 15. 

relief based upon patent infringement and active inducement of patent infringement under 

35 U.S.C. § 271 and the Federal Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051, et seq., and the related laws of 

the State of New Jersey. 

16. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1121 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1338(a) and (b). 

17. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Zoetis' state-law claims pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because those claims are substantially related to Zoetis' federal claims. 

18. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant, and venue is proper in this 

district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because Zoetis is located and is being harmed in 

this district, Defendant conducts business in this district, and/or the activity about which Zoetis 

complains has taken place, and is continuing to take place, in this district. 

BACKGROUND 

ZOETIS' APOQUEL 

Zoetis Inc. is the New Animal Drug Application ("NADA") holder and Zoetis 19. 

US LLC is the marketer of APOQUEL®, which is the first JAK-inhibitor therapeutic approved 

for use in canines for control of pruritus associated with allergic dermatitis and control of atopic 

dermatitis in dogs, under NADA 141-345. A copy of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration 

("FDA") letter granting such approval is attached as Exhibit C. 
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20. APOQUEL® was introduced in 2014 and became an immediate success due to. 

inter alia, its unique mode of action and high rate of success in treatment of dogs suffering from 

previously untreatable conditions. Zoetis' history of successful and safe therapeutics has helped 

to inspire confidence with its veterinarian customers and pet owners. This immediate uptake by 

the veterinarian community has resulted in a shortage of the product. 

ZOETIS' EXTENSIVE MARKETING OF ITS APOQUEL BRAND 

21. Since the product's launch in the spring of 2014, Zoetis has used the 

APOQUEL® mark extensively in marketing materials distributed around the country. 

22. Since 2010, Zoetis also has used the APOQUEL® mark extensively in various 

promotional efforts. For example, Zoetis' scientists have presented at numerous scientific and 

professional meetings and at industry trade shows throughout the world. 

23. Zoetis has extensively published about its APOQUEL® product in trade 

publications such as Veterinary Dermatology and the Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and 

Therapeutics. Zoetis also advertises its APOQUEL®-branded product in brochures and other 

printed materials that it distributes to veterinarians. 

24. Zoetis continues to use its APOQUEL® mark on its product, distributed around 

the country, as shown below. 

apoque) 
(oclacitinib tablet) 

(BE) 2 0 tablets 

C Jut ion 

M»t Contfim 

ZQjetis 
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25. Zoetis maintains a website, www.apoquel.com. wherein the product is discussed 

and its unique mode of activity is explained, as shown below. 

| o ; i l gg / Q Apoquel for dogs | Treats x 

C D w w w . a p o q u e l f o r d o g s . c o m 

Apoquel (oclacitinib) 

• = 

" apoque) Efficacy Buy C o n t a c t Home About 

oclacitinib 

Help Relieve Your Dog's Itch with Fast Acting 
Apoquel !»Q 

xlr Apoquel delivers onset of relief within 4 hours. Effectively controls itch within 2 4 
hours. 

iiJ&i 

Apoquel t r e a t s acute and chronic pruri tus in dogs 
ig the most f requent complaints of pet 5. affecting about one in six Canine prurit i 

dogs whose owne r s seek veterinary help. About half of all itchy dogs will have an underlying allergic 
skin condit ion for which Apoquel would be indicated. 

.cpoquel 

Apoquel treats acute and chronic pruri tus in dogs and provides fast-acting relief f r om its symptoms. 
Though pruri tus can be caused by skin disease, cancer, and other condit ions- this t reatment is 
specifically formulated to fight pruri tus associated with skin allergies. It can also be taken in 
conjunct ion with other medications mean t to treat your dog's seasonal allergies as directed by your 
veterinarian. 

A p o q u e l I 6 m g A p o q u e l 3 . 6 m g A p o q u e l 5 . 4 m g 

B u y p e r t a b l e t 
B u y 2 0 c o u n t 

B u y 1 0 0 c o u n t 

B u y p e r t a b l e t 
B u y 2 0 c o u n t 
B u y 1 0 0 c o u n t 

B u y p e r t a b l e t 
B u y 2 0 c o u n t 
B u y 1 0 0 c o u n t Apoquel starts working within 4 hours of administering the first dose and controls itching within 24 

hours. To ensure that it's easy to administer the proper dosage to your dog, this t reatment comes in 
three different dosages, each of which is sold individually, in packs of 20, or in packs of 100. 

Common causes of allergies and itching: o n < c " c APOQUEL B r o a d c a s t Video 

fPp T Tsi S 11:01 AM 
11/10/2014 

' | 98% ) Q - I f 1 -

26. As a result of Zoetis' considerable promotional efforts, including through its 

participation at various veterinarian trade shows, direct sales efforts, print and online 

advertisements, and its own website, the APOQUEL® mark enjoys extensive goodwill and 

consumer recognition in the United States and abroad. 

ZOETIS' PROTECTION OF ITS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
IN APOQUEL® 

Since 1998, Zoetis' former parent company, Pfizer Inc., has devoted extensive 27. 

resources to research in the area of JAK-inhibitors, resulting in numerous patents that protect its 

intellectual property rights in the class of compounds to which the active pharmaceutical 

ingredient in APOQUEL® belongs. 
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DEFENDANT ATTEMPTS TO TRADE OFF THE APOOUEL PRODUCT AND 
CONFUSE VETERINARIANS AND PET OWNERS 

28. Upon information and belief, Defendant has procured a supply of oclacitinib free 

base from an unknown source and has aggressively marketed this oclacitinib free base to 

veterinarians and pet owners, via personal contact, fax mailings and at veterinary conferences, in 

some instances passing it off as oclacitinib maleate, APOQUEL®, and/or APOQUEL®-

equivalent. Defendant's product differs from genuine APOQUEL® which is the maleate salt 

form of oclacitinib. An example of Defendant's marketing efforts is the fax mailing attached as 

Exhibit D. reproduced in relevant part below. 

IfcL 
' f k ' J S — 

M J, ex 
Flexible Dosing wi th Scored FLEX TABS! 
YOU asked - WE listened! 
New offerings include; 

0 1 0 0 on* $ 7 » . " tJOOoy $ 1 S 9 ! 

lOOmgoptwr pi>vid« 300 mg. 200 mg. 15 

E n r o f l o x a c i n 2 0 4 m g 
#100 S 8 9 . " i»200 ii y $ 1 5 9 . " « 3 0 0 $214 . , » 

des 204 tr»g 136 r ig , 102 ITKJ C* 6 8 n g options 

1 ; o n « 2 o l « 3 0 0 rrvg 
• lOOonfy $64.'* 
provides 300 mq, 2COmg. 150 mg CK 100 ing options 

tablet, l u c o n a z o l e 4 0 0 
# 1 0 0 c n y $ 6 4 . " 
p'o/tde. 400 mg. 266 mg, 200 o* 133 m g options 

K e t o c o n a z o l e 1 0 0 m ^ 
«20C , $6S." » 3 0 0 i S 7 9 r 
prcMdfi 100 mg. 66 mg, 50 m g o«33 m g cpdons ways! 
M e t r o n i d a t o l e I S O m g 

$ 9 4 . w # 3 0 0 onV $113.** 
D e s i g n e d t o p r o v i d e c l i n i c s a n d p e t 

o w n e r s w i t h t h e m o s t r e m a r k a b l e 

v e r s a t i l i t y a n d v a l u e ! 

50 m g opliam 

• O c U c i t i n i b 1 2 m g 
#30 on, $119.*1 

provides 12 m g 8 mg. 6 m g on4 rrg optlom 

, i i R O M I S '• n A. #100 SIIQ.*1 # 2 0 0 , SIJS.*1 

prontdn 15 m g 10 m g 73 m g o* 5 mgopeons 

P r a z i q u a n t e l 6&mg s # 1 0 0 c > $ 9 4 . w # 2 0 0 o i k $ U 9 r « 3 0 0 , $ 2 2 9 . H JPK prowtOfs 68 m g 45 J n rg 3 4 m g a 22.7 m g opaons 

S i ldena f i l 1 5 m g 
# 1 0 0 . 595." # 2 0 0 oif) $161.** 

15 10 mg. 7 ^ m g OK5 m g optioni 
U r s o d i o l 3 0 0 m g 
* 1 0 0 (**/ $ 1 4 9 , * 
povkto 300 mg. 200 mg. 150 mg CH 100 m g opt>om 

* U 
w H - ^ . R o a d n 

7 1 1 F.. C a r e f r e e Hw>- . -518-4589 P l i o c n i x , 

t f» nes i' * J 
rkr-MtM u 
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29. Upon information and belief, Roadrunner's compounded product does not contain 

the same active ingredient as APOQUEL®. 

30. Upon information and belief, Defendant has directly or implicitly represented that 

its product is APOQUEL®. 

31. Upon information and belief, Defendant has directly or implicitly represented that 

its product is equivalent to APOQUEL®. For example, such representations have been delivered 

orally and through referencing Zoetis' scientific publications in Defendant's written materials. 

32. Upon information and belief, when questioned as to the authenticity of the 

product that was being supplied to consumers, Defendant has supplied to the questioners a 

"Certificate of Analysis" ("COA") purporting to show that its product was genuine oclacitinib 

maleate, or APOQUEL®. A copy of this COA is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

DEFENDANT'S WILLFUL INFRINGEMENT OF ZOETIS' WELL-KNOWN 
APOQUEL MARK AND ZOETIS' PATENTS 

Upon information and belief, as early as August of 2014, Defendant issued an 33. 

advertisement in its newsletter to veterinarians which states: "At the urgings of many, many 

prescribers, Roadrunner Pharmacy was able to secure this powder (the active ingredient in 

APOQUEL®), allowing Summit Club members access once again to this remarkable therapeutic 

agent. We are compounding this in our new Flex Tab dosage form at 12mg/tablet AND as an oil 

suspension containing lOmg/ml." A copy of this advertisement is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant began further advertising that it would 

soon be able to supply its alleged compounded APOQUEL® in October 2014. 

On or about November 5, 2014, Defendant entertained over 50 veterinarians at a 35. 

veterinary conference entitled "Idaho Legalities Update and Cutting Edge Compounded 
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Medications" in Meridian, Idaho, to promote its APOQUEL® as a legitimately compounded 

product. 

Zoetis, via its counsel, sent Defendant a letter dated November 11, 2014, 36. 

notifying Defendant of its infringement of Plaintiffs' APOQUEL® trademark and the '899 

patent. A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit G. 

37. The application which issued as the '283 patent was a divisional application of the 

'899 patent. The '283 patent application was published on May 17, 2012, and the claims of the 

published '283 patent application are identical to those of the'283 patent as issued. 

38. Upon information and belief, Defendant's product, procured from a veterinary 

hospital that had been supplied by Roadrunner, is oclacitinib free base rather than oclacitinib 

maleate salt, the active pharmaceutical ingredient of APOQUEL®. 

39. Upon information and belief, Defendant was aware of Zoetis' prior rights in the 

well-known APOQUEL® mark, since without use of the mark, it would not have been able to 

convince potential customers that its product would have the desired beneficial activity and 

would be worth the relatively high price charged. Defendant's representations that Pfizer and/or 

Zoetis had given them the compound further demonstrates its knowledge of Zoetis' rights in the 

mark. 

40. Upon information and belief, each sponsor of an approved animal drug is required 

by law to submit to the FDA certain information regarding patents held for the animal drug or its 

method of use. The FDA is required to make this information public, along with a list of all 

animal drug products approved for safety and effectiveness. Upon information and belief, this 

FDA-maintained list is commonly referred to as the "Green Book," is accessible and searchable 

online on the FDA's website, and is updated monthly. 
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41. Upon information and belief, Defendant knew or should have known of Plaintiffs' 

existing patent rights in the '899 patent and the related '283 patent, because information 

regarding the '899 patent has been published in the Green Book since about January of 2014 

available online from the FDA website. Such information is therefore well-known to the 

pharmaceutical and veterinary industry. Defendant was further made aware of Plaintiffs' patent 

rights through the November 11, 2014 letter (see Exhibit G). Moreover, the '283 patent 

application had been published, with claims that were identical to those in the issued '283 patent, 

before Zoetis sent the November 11, 2014 letter. Upon information and belief, a search for the 

'899 patent on the United States Patent and Trademark Office's Patent Application Information 

Retrieval system would have shown that the '283 patent was a divisional of the '899 patent, and 

had been published. Defendant was therefore aware or should have been aware of Plaintiffs' 

rights in both the '899 and '283 patents. Thus, Defendant's violation of Plaintiffs' patent rights 

has been willful. 

ZOETIS WILL BE IRREPARABLY HARMED IF DEFENDANT IS ALLOWED TO USE 
THE APOQUEL MARK 

42. Because Zoetis has no control over the quality of Defendant's products or its 

marketing campaign, Defendant's use of the APOQUEL® mark results in Zoetis' loss of control 

of its business reputation and a loss of its goodwill. Further, since, under federal law, 

Defendant's use of an unapproved active pharmaceutical ingredient, i.e., oclacitinib free base, 

and its representation that such is an equivalent to APOQUEL®, Plaintiff is likely to suffer 

adverse consequences to the reputation of the genuine oclacitinib maleate active pharmaceutical 

ingredient present in APOQUEL®. Plaintiff and its former parent company, Pfizer, have spent 

millions of dollars in obtaining a legitimate and approved NADA for the oclacitinib maleate-

10 

Case 2:15-cv-03193-MCA-JBC   Document 1   Filed 05/06/15   Page 10 of 22 PageID: 10



containing APOQUEL®, which investment is being tarnished by the Defendant's product which 

it has represented as a legitimately compounded form of APOQUEL®. 

43. Upon information and belief, unless enjoined by this Court, Defendant intends to 

continue to infringe upon Zoetis' trademark and patents, and otherwise to profit from the 

goodwill attributable to them, which will damage Zoetis' reputation and result in a loss of the 

goodwill it has established over the its history as a veterinary company and its legacy reputation 

of more than 60 years. Zoetis has no adequate remedy at law to redress all of the injuries that 

Defendant has caused and intended to cause by its conduct, and thus Zoetis will continue to 

suffer irreparable injury until Defendant's conduct is enjoined by this Court. 

44. In addition, Defendant's marketing and selling of its product has diverted and, if 

Defendant is not enjoined by the Court, will continue to divert, sales from Zoetis to Defendant, 

and thereby taking for Defendant the revenues and profits that otherwise would belong to Zoetis. 

Thus, Zoetis has been damaged by Defendant's conduct in an amount to be determined 

according to proof. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Trademark Infr ingement Under the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1114) 

45. Zoetis repeats and realleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

46. Defendant's use of APOQUEL® in commerce in connection with its oclacitinib 

free base product which is not a legitimately compounded form of APOQUEL® is likely to 

cause confusion by misleading consumers into believing that Zoetis is the source, sponsor, 
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and/or is otherwise affiliated with Defendant's products, and thus constitutes infringement of a 

registered mark in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114. 

47. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's wrongful acts alleged above, 

Zoetis has suffered, continues to suffer, and/or is likely to suffer damage to its trademarks, 

business reputation, and goodwill because Defendant may be able to siphon customers away 

from Zoetis. Zoetis may be further harmed by the association between its high-quality 

legitimately-approved and manufactured product APOQUEL® and Defendant's product and 

illegitimately-compounded material, which, as discussed above, upon information and belief is 

not the maleate salt form of the approved APOQUEL® product, and is not manufactured by an 

approved source. 

48. Unless enjoined by this Court, Defendant will continue to use APOQUEL® to 

confuse veterinarians and pet owners, and will cause irreparable damage to Zoetis. If Defendant 

is not enjoined, it will be able to mislead customers into believing that Defendant's product is 

related to, sponsored by, or otherwise affiliated with Zoetis' well-known and respected 

APOQUEL® brand. By so doing, Defendant may be able to divert customers from Zoetis or 

damage the reputation for quality, reliability, and efficiency that Zoetis, through its legacy 

companies, has built up over 60 years. 

49. Zoetis has no adequate remedy at law and is entitled to an injunction restraining 

Defendant, its officers, agents, and employees, and all persons acting in concert with Defendant, 

from engaging in further acts of trademark infringement, as well as flagrant violation of the 

federal regulations relating to legitimate compounding of both veterinary and human 

pharmaceuticals. 
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50. Zoetis is entitled to recover from Defendant the actual damages that it sustained 

and/or is likely to sustain as a result of Defendant's use of its APOQUEL® mark. Zoetis is 

currently unable to ascertain the full extent of the monetary damages that it has suffered and/or is 

likely to suffer by reason of Defendant's acts of trademark infringement. 

51. Zoetis also is entitled to recover from Defendant the gains, profits, and advantages 

that Defendant has obtained as a result of their use of its APOQUEL® mark. Zoetis is currently 

unable to ascertain the extent of the gains, profits, and advantages that Defendant has realized by 

reason of its acts of trademark infringement. 

52. Zoetis also is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs of suit pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1117. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

False Designation of Origin Under the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(A)) 

53. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

54. Defendant's use of APOQUEL®, in commerce in connection with its oclacitinib 

is likely to cause confusion and thus constitutes a false designation of origin, affiliation, and/or 

sponsorship, and a false description or representation that wrongfully and falsely designates 

Defendant's product as originating from the same source as those of Zoetis, or being associated, 

affiliated, or connected with or approved or sponsored by Zoetis, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a)(1)(A). 

55. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's misleading use of the APOQUEL 

mark, Zoetis has suffered and continues to suffer and/or is likely to suffer damage to its 

trademarks, business reputation, and goodwill. Defendant may be able to siphon customers away 
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from Zoetis by misleading consumers into believing that its product is a legitimately 

compounded version of the industry-leading APOQUEL®, or that there is some other connection 

between the products. Zoetis may be further harmed by the association between its high-quality 

product, backed by clinical studies and manufactured under good manufacturing practices 

(GMP) conditions as required by federal law, and Defendant's oclacitinib product, which, as 

discussed above, upon information and belief, is compounded oclacitinib free base rather than 

genuine compounded APOQUEL® maleate salt being marketed and sold by the Defendant. 

56. Unless enjoined by this Court, Defendant will continue to use Plaintiffs' 

APOQUEL® mark to confuse veterinarians and pet owners, and will cause irreparable damage 

to Zoetis, including to its reputation, goodwill, and potentially, even its customer-base. 

57. Zoetis has no adequate remedy at law and is entitled to an injunction restraining 

Defendant, its officers, agents, and employees, and all persons acting in concert with Defendant, 

from engaging in further acts of false designation of origin, affiliation, or sponsorship. 

58. Zoetis is entitled to recover from Defendant the actual damages that it sustained 

and/or is likely to sustain as a result of Defendant's misleading use of APOQUEL®. Zoetis 

currently is unable to ascertain the full extent of the monetary damages that it has suffered and/or 

is likely to suffer by reason of Defendant's acts of false designation of origin, affiliation, or 

endorsement. 

59. Zoetis also is entitled to recover from Defendant the gains, profits, and advantages 

that Defendant has obtained as a result of its wrongful acts. Zoetis currently is unable to 

ascertain the extent of the gains, profits, and advantages that Defendant has realized by reason of 

its acts of false designation of origin, affiliation, or endorsement. 
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60. Zoetis also is entitled to recover its attorneys' fees and costs of suit pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1117. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

False Advert is ing Under the Lanham Act (15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B)) 

61. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

62. By stating that its oclacitinib product is legitimate APOQUEL® and/or equivalent 

to APOQUEL®, Defendant has, in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresented the 

nature, characteristics, and qualities of its oclacitinib. 

63. In its marketing, advertising and promotional materials for its oclacitinib product, 

Defendant has made the false and misleading claims that its oclacitinib is APOQUEL® and/or 

equivalent to APOQUEL®. 

64. These false and misleading advertising claims are material to consumer 

purchasing decisions, and have caused and/or will cause actual consumer confusion regarding 

the connection between legitimate APOQUEL® product, as well as damages to Zoetis in an 

amount to be determined at trial. 

65. Defendant has improperly benefitted from its misleading advertising in an amount 

to be determined at trial. 

66. Harm to consumers and Zoetis will continue unless Defendant is restrained and 

enjoined from making false and misleading claims. 

67. Upon information and belief, because Defendant is aware that it is marketing 

APOQUEL®, Defendant's false and misleading statements are willful. 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unfair Competition, Trademark Infringement, and False Advertising Under the 
New Jersey Fair Trade Act (N.J.S.A. § 56:4-1 et seq.) 

68. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

69. By engaging in the acts alleged above, including by using Plaintiffs' 

APOQUEL® mark to confuse veterinarians and pet owners in commerce in order to trade off of 

the goodwill of the industry-leading Zoetis brand APOQUEL®, and by making the misleading 

advertising claims in commerce that its oclacitinib product is legitimate APOQUEL® and/or 

equivalent to APOQUEL®, Defendant has appropriated for its own use a name, brand, and 

trademarks belonging to Zoetis, along with the reputation and goodwill associated with them, 

and have made false and misleading advertising statements about its oclacitinib product in 

commerce, thereby engaging in trademark infringement, false advertising, and unfair 

competition under the New Jersey Fair Trade Act, N.J.S.A. § 56:4-1 et seq. (2001). 

70. Upon information and belief, Defendant's conduct in promoting to veterinarians 

its oclacitinib product as legitimately compounded and Zoetis-authorized APOQUEL® and 

disguising the origins of its product by falsely touting it as legitimate APOQUEL® and/or 

equivalent to APOQUEL® has been intentional and willful, and is calculated specifically to 

trade off the goodwill that Zoetis has developed in its successful APOQUEL® product. 

71. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's actions as alleged above, Zoetis 

has suffered, will continue to suffer, and/or is likely to suffer irreparable harm. 

72. Zoetis has no adequate remedy at law for these wrongs and injuries. 

73. The damage to Zoetis includes harm to its trademarks, goodwill, and reputation in 

the marketplace that money cannot compensate. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Common Law Unfair Competition 

74. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

75. The actions of Defendant as alleged above, including using APOQUEL® in 

commerce and making the false and misleading claim that its oclacitinib product is legitimate 

APOQUEL® and/or equivalent to APOQUEL®, when, upon information and belief, Roadrunner 

knows or should know that its product is oclacitinib free base, constitutes common law unfair 

competition under the common law of New Jersey. 

76. Upon information and belief, the actions of Defendant described above have at all 

times relevant to this action been willful. 

77. As a direct and proximate result of these actions, Defendant unlawfully derived 

and will continue to derive, income, profits and goodwill from their activities. 

78. Zoetis has been and will continue to be damaged irreparably because customers 

are likely to be confused about the source and affiliation of Defendant Roadrunner's oclacitinib 

product. This consumer confusion diminishes the distinctiveness of the APOQUEL® mark and 

would destroy the valuable goodwill that Zoetis has built up, through its legacy companies, over 

the past 60 years. Zoetis has no adequate remedy at law for these wrongs and injuries. The 

damage to Zoetis includes harm to its trademarks, goodwill and reputation in the marketplace 

that money cannot compensate. 
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Infringement of the '899 patent 

79. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

80. By engaging in the acts alleged above, Defendant has engaged, directly or 

indirectly, in patent infringement under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35, United 

States Code, that arises out of its activities with respect to its oclacitinib product which it has 

been actively marketing and selling to veterinarians and pet owners through direct marketing and 

over the internet and which infringes Zoetis' '899 patent. 

81. Upon information and belief, the actions of Defendant described above have at all 

times relevant to this action been willful. For example, the willfulness of Defendant's conduct is 

demonstrated by its continued infringement despite the publication of Plaintiffs' patent 

information for APOQUEL® in the FDA's Green Book, and its continued infringement despite 

being informed of such by Plaintiff through the November 11, 2014 letter (Exhibit G). 

82. As a direct and proximate result of these actions, Defendant unlawfully derived 

and will continue to derive, income, profits and goodwill from its activities. 

83. Zoetis has been and will continue to be damaged irreparably because Defendant's 

marketing and sales of its oclacitinib product infringes the '899 patent. Zoetis has no adequate 

remedy at law for these wrongs and injuries. The damage to Zoetis includes harm to its 

intellectual property that money cannot compensate. 

84. Additionally, Defendant's infringing conduct makes this an exceptional case 

under 35 U.S.C. § 285, due in part to Defendant's wanton disregard for Plaintiffs' patent rights, 
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its continued infringement despite being informed of Plaintiffs' patent rights, and its duplicitous 

and fraudulent conduct in marketing and selling the product. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Infringement of the '283 patent 

85. Zoetis repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation above as though set forth 

fully herein. 

86. By engaging in the acts alleged above, Defendant has engaged, directly or 

indirectly, in patent infringement under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35, United 

States Code, that arises out of Defendant's activities with respect to its oclacitinib product which 

it has been actively marketing and selling to veterinarians and pet owners through direct 

marketing and over the internet and which directly and/or indirectly infringes Zoetis' '283 

patent. 

87. By engaging in the acts alleged above, Defendant has actively induced the 

infringement of Zoetis' '283 patent, in violation of 35 U.S.C. 271(b), by marketing, offering for 

sale, and selling its oclacitinib product to veterinarians, pet owners, and other professionals or 

end-users, with advertising or instructions relating to a use that directly infringes on one or more 

claims of the '283 patent. 

88. Upon information and belief, the actions of Defendant described above have at all 

times relevant to this action been willful. For example, the willfulness of Defendant's conduct is 

demonstrated by its continued infringement despite the publication on information regarding 

Plaintiffs' related '899 patent in the FDA's Green Book listing for APOQUEL®. Defendant's 

willfulness is further demonstrated by its continued infringement despite being informed of such 
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by Plaintiffs through the November 11, 2014 letter (Exhibit G) in regard to the related '899 

patent. 

89. As a direct and proximate result of these actions, Defendant unlawfully derived 

and will continue to derive, income, profits and goodwill from its activities. 

90. Zoetis has been and will continue to be damaged irreparably because Defendant's 

marketing and sales of its oclacitinib product infringes the '899 patent. Zoetis has no adequate 

remedy at law for these wrongs and injuries. The damage to Zoetis includes harm to its 

intellectual property that money cannot compensate. 

91. Additionally, Defendant's infringing conduct makes this an exceptional case 

under 35 U.S.C. § 285, due in part to Defendant's wanton disregard for Plaintiffs' patent rights, 

its continued infringement despite being informed of Plaintiffs' patent rights, and its duplicitous 

and fraudulent conduct in marketing and selling the product. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Zoetis respectfully asks that this Court enter judgment in its favor on 

each and every claim for relief set forth above and award it relief, including, but not limited to, 

the following: 

A. Finding that Defendant has infringed Zoetis' trademarks and violated 15 U.S.C. 

§§ 1125(a)(1)(A), 1125(a)(1)(B), and 1114, the New Jersey Fair Trade Act, N.J.S.A. § 56:4-1 et 

seq., and the common law by engaging in unlawful, unfair, and misleading business practices, 

including false advertising; 

B. Finding a substantial likelihood that Defendant will continue to infringe Zoetis' 

intellectual property and make false and misleading advertising claims in commerce unless 

enjoined from doing so; 
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C. Finding that Defendant has infringed directly and/or indirectly Plaintiffs' '899 

patent; 

D. Finding that Defendant has infringed directly and/or indirectly Plaintiffs' '283 

patent; 

Issuing a permanent injunction enjoining Defendant, and its agents, servants, 

employees, attorneys, successors and assigns, and all persons, firms, and corporations acting in 

concert with them, from manufacturing transporting, promoting, importing, advertising, 

publicizing, distributing, offering for sale, or selling any oclacitinib products promoted as 

APOQUEL® and/or equivalent to APOQUEL® or any other mark, name, symbol, or logo that is 

likely to cause confusion or to cause mistake or to deceive persons into the erroneous belief that 

any goods that Defendant caused to enter the stream of commerce are sponsored, licensed, or 

endorsed by Zoetis, are authorized by Zoetis, or are connected or affiliated in some way with 

Zoetis, or from participating or assisting in any such activity; 

Ordering Defendant to render a full and complete accounting to Zoetis for 

Defendant's profits, gains, advantages, or the value of the business opportunities received from 

the foregoing improper acts; 

G. Ordering Defendant to pay for the costs of remedial advertising to counter the 

effects of any confusion arising from Defendant's marketing campaign; 

H. Entering judgment for Zoetis against Defendant for all damages suffered by 

Zoetis and for any profits or gain in the United States by Defendant attributable to infringement 

of Zoetis' intellectual property under United States law in amounts to be determined at trial; 

Awarding Zoetis the costs and disbursement of this action, including reasonable 

attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117 and 35 U.S.C. § 285; 
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Awarding Zoetis pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, to the fullest extent 

available, on the foregoing; and 

K. Granting such other, further and different relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 

Dated: May 6, 2015 Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Philip L. Hirschhorn 

Philip L. Hirschhorn 

Counsel for Plaintiffs Zoetis LLC, 
Zoetis Services LLC, and Zoetis US LLC 
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